





Second Cycle Degree (M.Sc.) in Biotechnologies for Food Science

The Transcriptional Landscape of The Berry Skin In Two Novel Resistant Grapevine Varieties

Supervisor: Prof. Alessandro Vannozzi Co- supervisors: Dr. Carlotta Pirrello Dr. Francesco Scariolo

> Master candidate: Sina Abdollahi Student ID. 2012969

Academic Year

2022/2023

To my family Woman, Life, Freedom

Abstract

Successful vineyard management, which guarantees optimum yields and fruits with desirable traits, is intimately related to the creation of high-quality wines. However, grape producers face difficulties, most notably fungal and oomycete diseases including Gray Mold, powdery mildew, and downy mildew that can ruin harvests and have an influence on the wine industry. Chemical pesticidebased traditional defensive strategies are incompatible with integrated crop protection strategies and environmental sustainability goals. New opportunities for grape production with less environmental impact are presented by advances in genetic understanding and biotechnology. Working with resistant varieties involves investigating whether there are inherent or constitutive mechanisms within these varieties that might contribute to their resistance. This exploration aims to uncover basal or preexisting mechanisms that play a role in conferring resistance traits, shedding light on the underlying factors that make these varieties resistant to conditions or stressors. Conventional breeding has been instrumental in developing desirable traits, yet it suffers from drawbacks. These include timeconsuming processes, reliance on limited genetic diversity leading to unexpected genetic modifications, resource-intensive demands, and challenges in addressing complex features. The need for alternate strategies, such as biotechnology, to get over these obstacles and hasten grapevine genetic progress is emphasized in this study. The investigation and analysis of the transcriptional profile of grapevine types showing resistance to oomycete and fungal diseases is the main goal of this research. To gain a better understanding of the genetic basis of resistance in grapevines, this study compares the transcriptional profiles of these resistant varieties with those of other grapevine varieties and elite types. Therefore, it would be possible to better comprehend the genetic basis of resistance in grapevines if we were to become more familiar with the underlying genetic profile of disease resistance.

Keywords: Conventional breeding, Downy Mildew, RNA-Seq, Berry skin, Gray Mold, Powdery Mildew.

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	6
1.1.	The History of Grapevine	6
1.2.	The Most Important Oomycete and Fungal Diseases Affecting Grapevines	7
1.2.1.	Downy Mildew	7
1.2.2.	Powdery Mildew	8
1.2.3.	Gray Mold	9
1.3.	Conventional Breeding	10
1.4.	The Extraction of Biomolecules	13
1.5.	Sequencing	14
1.6.	Gene expression analysis	16
1.7.	Aim of the study	17
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
2.1.	Sample Preparation	19
2.1.1.	Sample Collection	19
2.1.2.	RNA Extraction	19
2.1.3.	Purification	21
2.2.	Library Preparation and sequencing platform	22
2.3.	Differential gene expression analysis and candidate genes identification	24
3.	RESULTS AND DESCUSSION	26
3.1.	Sequencing quality reports	26
3.3.	White varieties	31
3.4.	Red varieties	32
3.5.	G:Profiler enrichment analysis	35
3.6.	Gene enrichment and Tau test	
4.	CONCLUSION	43
Refere	ences	45

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The History of Grapevine

The most common species of grapevine utilized in the world's wine industry is Vitis vinifera. It is a member of the Vitis genus, which is part of the Vitaceae family and has 60 interfertile species, the majority of which are found in the northern hemisphere. Its history goes back roughly 65 million years [71]. The cultivation of V. vinifera covered approximately 7.4 million hectares in 2020 with a production higher than 69 million tons of grapes [36]. Two sub-species are recognized: the wild form, V. vinifera subsp. sylvestris, and the domesticated one, V. vinifera subsp. vinifera (or sativa). V. vinifera is notably abundant in secondary metabolites, showcasing an array of flavonoids (such as flavan-3-ols and flavanols), phenolic acids, antho- cyanins, fatty acids, amino acids, and vitamins. Notably, it features the distinctive presence of stilbene derivatives. The diverse qualitative composition of these phytochemicals varies based on the specific morphological parts of the plant [31]. V. vinifera has garnered scientific interest due to the diverse array of compounds it harbours. This grapevine species demonstrates antioxidant, antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer activities. Moreover, it highlights properties containing cardioprotective, hepatoprotective, and neuroprotective effects [23, 39]. antibacterial properties V. vinifera suggest its potential as an alternative to chemical preservatives [50]. fruits of V. vinifera, known as grapes, are extensively utilized in the production of wines, juices, and raisins as well as fresh consumption [62].

V. vinifera is believed to originate from V. vinifera spp. sylvestris, a wild grapevine. These wild grapevines still exist in small populations in forested regions near rivers, climbing trees natural environments suitable for their growth. They are dispersed across regions extending from the Atlantic coast of Europe to Tajikistan and the Western Himalayas [60].

Subspecies sylvestris is considered the progenitor of the subspecies V. vinifera and, phenotypically, the two subspecies differ in some traits relating to the morphology of flower, seed, and leaf, to berry and bunch size [33]. The grapevine (*Vitis vinifera L*) is attractive for genomic research because it is diploid and has a small genome size of 475.500 Mb, relatively smaller compared to other plants (it is approximately four times the size of Arabidopsis and one sixth the size of the corn genome) [71, 41].

1.2. The Most Important Oomycete and Fungal Diseases Affecting Grapevines

As one of the most significant fruit crops in the world, grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) is confronted with numerous pathogenic effects that cause infections pre-, mid-, or post-harvest, which have a significant negative impact on commercial cultivars, compromising fruit quality, processing, and export. Bacteria, fungus, oomycete, or viruses with various life cycles, infection methods, and evasion techniques are some examples of potential dangers [3]. Gray Mold, powdery mildew, and downy mildew (DM), among others, are some of the most significant ailments affecting grapevine. These diseases are brought on by *Botrytis cinerea, Erysiphe necator*, and *Plasmopara viticola*, respectively [3]. The term "grapevine trunk diseases" (GTDs) refers to a group of disorders affecting grapevines that are brought on by a variety of 26 fungal pathogens inhabiting and colonizing the wood of perennial organs and most importantly produce vascular infections, white decays, wood necrosis [47, 5]. On the other hand, the oomycete *P. viticola*, which caused a fungal- like plant disease native to North America, entered Europe by mistake at the end of the 19th century and significantly harmed the grape crop [29].

Although interactions between plants and pathogens are cycles of resistance and susceptibility, resistance features from natural resources are chosen and explained in breeding and sustainable agriculture for reducing field treatments against pathogens, thus reducing operative costs and enhancing the product healthiness [3].

1.2.1. Downy Mildew

The Downy Mildew, a plant disease brought on by the oomycete *P. viticola*. The northeastern part of the United States was the location where this ailment first attracted notice and was later described. As shown in Figure 1.1, the oomycete that caused the establishment of Downy Mildew was first collected by Schweinitz in 1834 from the northeastern region of the United States and classified as *Botrytis cana* [38]. Among the native wild Vitis species of North America, the causative agent *P. viticola* continues to be endemic. It made its first appearance within the borders of Europe in the year 1878 [29]. Afterward, there was a challenging period of fifty years, during which European

grape crops encountered three significant issues: powdery mildew first, then phylloxera, and finally, Downy Mildew [29].

Starting from the early 20th century, the disease posed a significant challenge for European viticulture [26] and Germany, France, Switzerland along with Italy were experienced serious grape crop lost to *P. viticola* [29]. Infecting grapevines with Downy Mildew need several days of good temperature, about 160°C/days above 8°C, starting from January 1st, measured 2 meters above the ground [27].

The pathogen's life cycle begins with dormant oospores in the soil, becoming active upon encountering a host. It causes primary and secondary infections, overwinters in leaf litter or soil, and emerges in spring. The initial phase remains symptomless until yellow spots appear, later turning brown. Sporangia release spores, prompting further infections, leading to premature leaf shedding and structural distortions in shoots and berries. The entire cycle lasts 5 to 18 days, influenced by environmental factors [38].

Traditionally, its control heavily relies on fungicide use throughout the growing season, which leads to environmental pollution and can result in the emergence of resistant pathogen strains over time. To combat this, there is a growing need to shift towards agroecological methods that emphasize prevention and enhanced agroecosystem resistance [53]. Primary inoculum, such as oospores, significantly influences the prevalence of grapevine downy mildew [28]. Tests focusing on germination have revealed that initial infections can take place continuously during the whole growing season [42].

1.2.2. Powdery Mildew

A crucial period in the history of plant pathology and viticulture was highlighted by the introduction of the grapevine Powdery Mildew pathogen (*E. necator*) from North America to Europe (1845), as well as the quick spread of the infection from England to France in 1847. Due to the destructive effects on grapevines of this pathogen, disease control practices underwent a radical change [13].

The disease symptoms vary across leaves, shoots, and berries. Leaves display white or gray patches on both surfaces, often mistaken for downy mildew, which can enlarge and cause leaf curling. Shoot symptoms are rare and appear as dark patches. Berries may experience flower loss, white fungal

growth resembling powdered sugar or flour, rust-coloured spots, and splitting. In some cases, purple or red berries fail to colour properly and appear blotchy at harvest [49].

Furthermore, Powdery Mildew triggers metabolic reprogramming in its host [51]. At the basic metabolic level, it lowers the amounts of glycolytic, photorespiratory, and photosynthetic proteins [43]. and results in a shift in carbon reserves through increased invertase and alpha-amylase activity [24]. These enzymes degrade starch reserves into glucose and maltose [56]. This metabolic shift coincides with an increase in the transcription of hydroxymethyl-glutaryl- CoA (*HMG-CoA*) and HMG-CoA reductase genes [24]. The HMG-CoA synthase enzyme facilitates the conversion of *Acetoacetyl-CoA* into *3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA*, which, in turn, is transformed into mevalonate by the *HMG-CoA* reductase enzyme. These two molecules play a crucial role in the biosynthesis pathway of terpenes, carotenoids, and sterol compounds [66].

The management of this pathogen predominantly hinges on the application of fungicides, a practice associated with environmental repercussions and escalated production expenses. A sustainable, economically prudent, and environmentally benign alternative for disease control is rooted in the deployment of resistant grapevine varieties. While a substantial proportion of *V. vinifera* cultivars remain susceptible to powdery mildew, noteworthy resilience has been observed in various species within the Vitaceae family [46]. Understanding the genetic foundation of this resistance is paramount for its effective integration into breeding initiatives [46]. Consumers are increasingly advocating for sustainability in food production. As a result, there is a growing need for the development of new grapevine cultivars that possess genetic resistance to powdery mildew. These cultivars can significantly contribute to sustainable viticulture practices, all while preserving yield, fruit quality, and the quality of the resulting wine [64].

1.2.3. Gray Mold

Botrytis cinerea is known to incite one of the most severe diseases affecting above-ground grapevine *V. vinifera* structures in numerous vineyards worldwide [1]. The disease consists of a necrotrophic fungus characterized by a brief biotrophic phase and it is known to infect over 1400 plant species.[80]. Gray Mold (GM) by *B. cinerea* significantly harms important crops like grapes, strawberries, and tomatoes [14].

GM results in considerable economic losses in global viticulture, contributing to 20% to 50% reductions in grape yields. This is primarily due to the spoilage of ripe grape bunches during post-harvest periods [22]. The optimal conditions of high humidity and moderate temperatures throughout the growth cycle of grapevine promote the thriving of this fungal pathogen [79]. This pathogen is a natural part of the microenvironment of vineyard, often found in the soil among dead plant material [19].

During the ripening stage, the disease affects the fruits, leading to necrotic regions with abundant fungal growth, resulting in the typical grey rot appearance. Consequently, the affected grapes become unsuitable for wine production. Berries typically get infected by airborne conidia from overwintered sources [45, 48]. Upon contact with the plant, *B. cinerea* induces cell death by releasing phytotoxins and cell wall degrading enzymes. It manipulates the host's metabolism to aid its colonization [79, 7].



Figure 1.1. Berry cluster infected by: (A): Downy Mildew. (B): Powdery Mildew. (C): Gray Mold.

1.3. Conventional Breeding

The bulk of food crops available in grocery stores owe their existence to conventional plant breeding methods. While seedless watermelon, plots, and tangelos might be misconstrued as products of modern genetic engineering, they are, in fact, outcomes of traditional breeding practices [12, 2]. Commercial conventional breeding introduces hundreds of new crop varieties annually. These endeavours aim to enhance crop productivity, fortify food security, enrich nutritional value, and widen consumer options [21].

Conventional plant breeding involves the identification of parent plants exhibiting desirable characteristics, creating favourable combinations in subsequent generations. This selection process

for superior plants in food, feed, and fiber production has an extensive history of over 10,000 years and has undergone significant refinement in the last century [16, 63].

Early agriculturalists leveraged natural genetic diversity within wild plant populations, choosing specific plants exhibiting desirable attributes. Today's plant breeders expand upon this diversity by selecting genetically varied plants as parents, accounting for factors like geographical isolation and differing maturation rates. To discern the most promising progeny, breeders select plants for desired traits and employ established scientific methodologies to assess crucial parameters specific to each crop [69].

Conventional breeding, an evolving process, has led to a robust framework enhancing crop performance while ensuring the production of safe and nutritious food. It involves a series of strategic decisions, such as the selection of parent plants, their cross-pollination, and the progression of preferred progeny. Unlike animal breeding, plant breeding takes advantage of creating extensive populations, often in the tens of thousands, but only a small fraction exhibiting the desired traits, generally less than 1%, moves forward in the breeding process. This meticulous selection from larger populations is a pivotal aspect of the entire breeding process, involved in trait mapping, introgression, and field-testing stages [69].

The initial grapevine breeding activities commenced around the early 19th century and were predominantly inaugurated in North America. In Europe, more targeted breeding efforts began later, catalysed by the emergence of mildews and phylloxera between 1845 and 1878. Principally, private French breeders initiated extensive breeding programs, aiming to incorporate resistance traits sourced from American wild species into the gene pool of the European cultivars belonging to Vitis vinifera [18].

Crossbreeding exploits genetic variation through controlled sexual repro- duction to obtain diverse progeny. In grapevine, it was initially used in the 18th century to develop "American hybrids" adapted to local conditions in America, surpassing local wild species for winemaking [72]. In Europe, crossbreeding began in the 20th century to combat emerging pests like downy mildew, powdery mildew, and GM. Early attempts led to "first-generation hybrids" but faced quality issues for winemaking. While effective for rootstocks, these hybrids lacked viticultural qualities, prompting regulatory constraints in the EU. Despite these challenges, subsequent breeding in other regions produced successful grape varieties for European cultivation and winemaking [52].

To harness resistance from wild species, gene introgression is used. This involves hybridizing a wild plant carrying the resistance trait with a commercial variety. The resulting plant is then repeatedly backcrossed with the commercial variety while selecting for the desired resistance trait [52].

The Vitaceae family, containing 16 genera and 950 species, is divided into five tribes [81]. The Vitis genus, comprising 75 species, belongs to the *Viteae* tribe. Vitis includes *muscadinia* and Vitis subgenera, including wild *V. vinifera* wild spp. *sylvestris* and cultivated spp. sativa. The similarity between these grape types, shown in between types that are a mix, backs up the idea that our cultivated grapes came from tamed wild ones [32].

The genetic makeup of *V. vinifera* grapes might be less diverse compared to mixed or wild varieties, yet these unique characteristic sparks variations between different types of grapes [8]. These variations become an asset in facing fungal diseases that commonly affect grapevines [74].

The updated regulations permitting hybrids under Protected Geographical Indication (PGI) by EU council in 2009, have revitalized the creation of resistant species through interspecific crossbreeding. These new cultivars, recognized as *V. vinifera* varieties, are labelled, in German, as Pilzwiderstandsfähig (PIWI), meaning "fungal disease resistant" [52].

Originating from Bordeaux, France, elite Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) is a renowned grape variety spread across 160,000 hectares globally. It yields wines with high alcohol content and is vulnerable to certain diseases. Cabernet Cortis (CC), is a PIWI variety, a hybrid of Cabernet Sauvignon and a white variety called Solaris, and it offers winemaking potential and, blending qualities from both parents. The other PIWI variety Cabernet Volos (CV), sharing traits with Cabernet Sauvignon, boasts good resistance to mildews, promising versatility, and winter hardiness for viticulture [73, 76].

Sauvignon Blanc (SB) is globally renowned for producing aromatic, crisp white wines. Widely cultivated, particularly in Bordeaux and Marlborough, this variety emphasizes flavour and aromatic qualities rather than disease resistance, lacking notable resilience compared to some specially bred variants. On the other hand, Sauvignon Nepis (SN) features hairless shoots, compact clusters, and a thick-skinned, flavour-neutral berry. Resilient against powdery mildew and downy mildew, it exhibits remarkable Vigour and winter hardiness, thriving even in temperatures as low as -20°C. Notably, its aromatic profile boasts fruity- floral notes with a hint of spice, making it versatile for various wine types. Finally, Sauvignon Rytos (SR), resembling its Sauvignon parent, displays strong disease

resistance against mildews but it is sensitive to *Botrytis* due to its compact clusters. Despite this, it endures harsh winters and offers balanced sugar and acidity values. With tropical and mineral aromas, SR yields complex Flavours, promising potential for both aged and immediate-consumption wines [54, 77].



Figure 1.2. Two Elite Grapevine Varieties with their PIWI types: Reds: (A) Cabernet Sauvignon. (B) Cabernet Cortis. (C) Cabernet Volos. Whites: (D) Sauvignon Blanc. (E) Sauvignon Rytos. (F) Sauvignon Nepis.

1.4. The Extraction of Biomolecules

The process of extracting biomolecules like DNA, RNA, and protein is fundamental in molecular biology [67]. It's the starting point for creating diagnostic kits and other products. We can isolate Deoxy ribonucleic Acid (DNA), ribonucleic Acid (RNA), and protein from different biological materials, including tissues, insects, bacteria, and virus particles, for various purposes [67, 83].

DNA and RNA can be extracted from various biological sources, including living, or preserved tissues, cells, viruses, or other specimens, for analytical or preparative purposes [83].

The extraction methods vary based on the intended use and source of genetic material [83]. However, the fundamental solubility properties of RNA and DNA enable their extraction these are molecules highly soluble in water, they precipitate as macromolecules in alcohol-water mixtures, and they are poorly soluble in organic solvents like chloroform or phenol, allowing for relative ease in extracting proteins and hydrophobic components from nucleic acid solutions [83]. In the same vein as DNA extraction, the process for isolating RNA involves the removal of other molecular components, such as proteins and lipids [83]. Just like in DNA extraction, organic solvents are utilized to separate RNA from these impurities [83]. However, RNA necessitates distinct treatment compared to DNA in several aspects not to co-extract it with the other nucleic acids of the sample [83].

Many cell types harbour a significant quantity of RNases in their cytoplasm, coexisting with the mRNA, often the prime target of analytical extraction [83, 17]. RNA experiences rapid degradation following to its extraction, attributed to its inherently short half-life, particularly after cell death [17].

The prime factor contributing to this phenomenon is contamination by RNases, a pervasive class of heat-stable enzymes known for their ability to swiftly degrade RNA [25] To counteract the pervasive influence of these RNases, the isolation procedure must be conducted swiftly, transitioning the cell lysate into an environment that inhibits RNases [83]. Potent denaturing agents like guanidinium isothiocyanate (GTC) solutions are employed for this purpose [83].

Freshly obtained or harvested tissues can be homogenized and largely dissolved in 4 M GTC [83]. The RNA can then be segregated through *CsCl* density gradient centrifugation, effectively separating it from DNA, which does not precipitate under these specific conditions [83]. Following this, a variety of methods can be employed to further purify the RNA pellet.

Alternatively, RNA can also be extracted from homogenized tissues using different denaturing salt solutions, such as 4 M lithium chloride [83]. Subsequently, a phenol extraction is performed to eliminate proteins from the homogenate, after which the RNA is precipitated using alcohol [83].

1.5. Sequencing

In 1977, a significant breakthrough in DNA sequencing emerged, presenting a method reminiscent of Sanger and Coulson's technique. This novel approach utilized 2',3'-dideoxy and arabino nucleoside analogues, demonstrating faster and more accurate DNA sequencing, notably showcased on bacteriophage ϕ X174 DNA [57, 58]. Concurrently, A.M Maxam and W. Gilbert proposed an alternative sequencing method, revolutionizing the field by selectively cleaving DNA strands at specific nucleotide sites, fundamentally altering DNA sequencing approaches [44]. The 1990s marked a turning point in grapevine cultivar identification with the introduction of microsatellite markers through Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) [78]. Additionally, microarray

technology, pioneered in 1995 by Schena and colleagues, transformed gene expression analysis. Although the initial microarray enabled comprehensive genome-wide gene examination, its limitations in targeting known genes and lacking exon-level detail led to the evolution of exon microarrays for more detailed insights [59, 30, 11].

RNA sequencing (RNA-Seq) was pioneered over a decade ago [20, 40]. Following the discovery of reverse transcriptase [68], it became feasible to convert mRNA and ncRNA into stable DNA, known as complementary DNA (cDNA). Through the utilization of the DNA sequencing system developed by British chemist Sanger in 1975 and the cDNA PCR method, which exponentially amplifies cDNA creatively introduced by Iscove [6], the sequencing of RNA through its synthesized cDNA became achievable.

Genomic sequencing technology has evolved through three distinct generations. The firstgeneration sequencing, pioneered by Frederick Sanger, utilized chain-termination methods, allowing for the sequencing of DNA. However, it was slow and costly for comprehensive genomic studies. The second-generation sequencing, also known as Next Generation Sequencing (NGS), including Illumina and Ion Torrent, significantly enhanced sequencing capabilities by parallelizing reactions, revolutionizing speed, and reducing costs. In contrast, the third-generation sequencing, exemplified by PacBio and Oxford Nanopore, advanced the field with single-molecule sequencing, offering longread sequencing and real-time data generation, effectively reducing the necessity for DNA amplification, and enabling more contiguous genome assemblies. Each generation brought pivotal improvements, empowering the genomic sciences with increased speed, accuracy, and costefficiency.

The typical laboratory workflow starts with RNA extraction and continues with cDNA synthesis, Messenger RNA (mRNA) enrichment or Ribosomal RNA (rRNA) depletion, and adaptor-ligated sequencing library creation. This library is frequently sequenced on a high-throughput platform like Illumina, with a read depth of 1030 million reads per sample. The final stages are computational and include filtering, normalizing between samples, quantifying reads overlapping transcripts, statistically analysing significant changes in the expression levels of individual genes and/or transcripts among sample groups, and aligning and/or assembling sequencing reads to a transcriptome [65]. With the help of this technological development, the wine grape business was able to enter a new era of accuracy and precision in identifying and tracking the origins of grapevine varietals [78]. Researchers and viticulturists have obtained the ability to reveal complex genetic links across grape types, unravelling the intricate tapestry of their lineage with unmatched detail, by utilizing the power of PCR-based microsatellite markers [78]. This development's subsequent effects on the viticulture, genetics, and enology areas were considerable and allowed for a better knowledge of grapevine diversity, heritage, and evolution [78].

1.6. Gene Expression Analysis

Studying constitutive (baseline) gene expression in uninfected grapevine berries can provide valuable insights into the defence resistance mechanisms of grapevine varieties, particularly when comparing resistant and susceptible varieties. Constitutive gene expression refers to the level of gene expression in the absence of an external stimulus, such as pathogen infection.

Here are a few reasons why analysing constitutive gene expression in uninfected berries makes sense:

Baseline Comparison: Examining the gene expression in uninfected berries allows researchers to establish a baseline for gene expression in the absence of disease. This baseline can then be compared to the gene expression patterns observed during infection, helping identify genes that are specifically induced or suppressed in response to the pathogen.

Identification of Basal Defence Mechanisms: Constitutive gene expression can reveal the presence of genes that are already actively involved in the defense mechanisms of the plant even before an infection occurs. These genes may play a role in providing basal resistance, making the plant less susceptible to pathogens.

Varietal Differences: Comparing resistant and susceptible varieties in terms of constitutive gene expression can highlight genetic differences that contribute to the varying levels of resistance. Understanding these differences at the molecular level can aid in the development of more resistant grapevine varieties through breeding or biotechnological approaches.

Early Detection of Resistance Markers: By identifying genes with constitutive expression patterns associated with resistance, researchers may find potential molecular markers that can be used for early detection of resistance traits in grapevine varieties. It is important to note that gene expression is just one aspect of the complex defence mechanisms in plants.

The interplay of various factors, including genetic, environmental, and physiological, contributes to the overall resistance or susceptibility of a plant to pathogens. Studying constitutive gene expression is a valuable component of a broader investigation into the molecular mechanisms underlying grapevine defence responses.

1.7. Aim of the study

Our objectives in this work were to identification of basal defence mechanisms possess in grapevines to protect themselves against pathogens, pests, or environmental stressors, to investigate the differences amongst varietals in case of gene expression profiles, and to identify early resistance detection markers which can be genetic sequences that are linked to resistance in grapevine varieties.

The grapevine RNA sequencing study encompassed a comprehensive workflow designed to unveil gene expression patterns across distinct grape varieties. RNA extraction following library preparation. Rigorous data processing in RStudio enabled differential gene expression analysis and candidate gene identification. Enrichment analyses unveiled significant biological pathways and functions among differentially expressed genes, while tissue-specificity analysis offered insights into gene expression patterns within the *Vitis* reference genome. Overall, the workflow provided a detailed examination of gene expression variations among grapevine varieties, shedding light on their genetic intricacies to reach our goal.



Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of the common transcriptomic analysis walkthrough for RNAseq approach.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Sample Preparation

2.1.1. Sample Collection

For each grapevine variety considered, (CS, CV, CC, SB, SN, and SR), we collected a total number of 40 berries from 4 plants grown in the same vineyard (Fossalon di Grado) and we stored them at -80 °C before their processing.

Storing RNA at -80°C is crucial due to its delicate nature and vulnerability to degradation. Keeping RNA samples at such low temperatures serves multiple vital purposes. Firstly, it preserves the integrity of RNA molecules, preventing rapid degradation and ensuring an accurate representation of the biological state at the time of collection. Secondly, it slows down enzymatic activity, particularly that of ribonucleases, which are less active at -80°C, reducing the degradation risk. Additionally, maintaining RNA at -80°C offers a stable and consistent environment for long-term storage, critical for extended research or diagnostic needs, thus ensuring high-quality RNA which is essential for various analytical applications such as RNA sequencing.

2.1.2. RNA Extraction

In this process, we employed the Sigma-Aldrich Spectrum[™] Plant Total RNA Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St, Louis, MO, USA), containing reagents reporting in figure 2.1 [61]. Sigma's Spectrum Plant Total RNA Kit simplifies RNA extraction from plants by effectively eliminating interfering substances without hazardous solvents. This streamlined process ensures clean RNA from challenging plant species like spruce, cotton, and grape, suitable for various downstream applications like Northern blot and Real-Time PCR (RT-PCR). Additionally, the On-Column DNase I Digest Set efficiently removes residual genomic DNA, enabling recovery of even small RNA molecules like microRNA.

Reagents Provided	Catalog No.	10 Preps	50 Preps	250 Preps
Lysis Solution	L8167	10 ml	50 ml	250 ml
2-Mercaptoethanol	M3148	0.15 ml	0.9 ml	$2 \times 2 \text{ ml}$
Binding Solution	L8042	10 ml	50 ml	250 ml
Wash Solution 1	W1141	10 ml	50 ml	250 ml
Wash Solution 2 Concentrate	W3261	2.5 ml	15 ml	75 ml
Elution Solution	E8024	1.5 ml	10 ml	50 ml
Filtration Columns	C6866	10 each	50 each	5 imes50 each
Binding Columns	C6991	10 each	50 each	5 imes 50 each
Collection Tubes, 2 ml	T5449	4×10 each	4×50 each	4×250 each

Reagents and Equipment Required But Not Provided

- Mortar and pestle
- Liquid nitrogen
- Dry ice
- 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes for weighing tissue
- Microcentrifuge (12,000 $\times g$ or higher)
- Heat block
- 100% Ethanol, Catalog No. **459836**
- On-Column DNase I Digest Set, Catalog No. DNASE10 and DNASE70 (optional)
- Amplication Grade DNase I, Catalog No. AMPD1 (optional)

Figure 2.1. Sigma-Aldrich Spectrum[™] Plant Total RNA Kit reagents used in the manufacturer protocol [61].

Dissection of grapevine berries

The dissection of grape berries for high-quality samples requires meticulous attention to detail. Samples stored at -80°C are delicately retrieved and swiftly placed in liquid nitrogen for preservation. With sterile tools like mortar, pestle, forceps, and a blade, each berry is carefully handled to separate its components efficiently. The process involves carefully removing the skin to obtain pure samples and splitting the pulp to extract seeds, swiftly placing each element into designated tubes. Safety precautions and rigorous cleaning protocols are crucial to maintain a sterile environment and safeguard the integrity of the samples during this procedure, specially focusing on avoiding crosscontamination between samples material.

Grinding of samples

The grinding, or homogenization, of grape berry samples is pivotal in preparing them for RNA extraction. Retrieving the samples from -80°C storage and maintaining their low temperature during the process is pivotal. Pre-cooling the equipment and utilizing aids like liquid nitrogen facilitate the grinding process and preserve RNA integrity. Samples are ground in manageable batches according

to equipment instructions, aiming for a consistent powder. Monitoring and adjusting parameters ensure efficient homogenization. Thorough cleaning of equipment between samples processing prevents contamination. Finally, the homogenized samples are collected and stored at the appropriate temperature for RNA extraction, where sample integrity is paramount for accurate outcomes. Grinding, thus, plays a crucial role in ensuring uniform samples, critical for subsequent analyses.

RNA extraction, quantification, and quality check

In this experiment, 4g of skin grounded material for each variety, in three replicates each, were used for the RNA extraction using the protocol provided by the commercial kit manufacturer. After the RNA extraction step, samples were eluted in 100 μ l of elution buffer before quantification and quality assessment.

RNA quality was assessed qualitatively, with a focus on the A260/280 and A260/230 absorbance ratios, using the Nanodrop 2000C spectrophotometer by ThermoFisher Scientific in figure 2.2[70]. The A260/280 ratio highlights protein contamination, with the suitability range being between 1.8 and 2.0. Deviations may suggest protein contaminant. Meanwhile, the A260/230 ratio, suitable when around 2.0 or higher, indicates absence of common impurities such as phenol or salts [70].



Figure 2.2. (A): Nanodrop 2000C. (B): Common reagents used in the isolation of nucleic acids include: A) *TriZol.* B) *Phenol.* C) *Guanidine Hydrochloride* (HCl). D) *Guanidine Isocyanate*.

2.1.3. Purification

After quality checks, samples showing high contaminants concentrations were further processed through purification step involving precipitation in lithium chloride (LiCl 10 M). This step is divided into two rounds. In the initial round, a 2.5 M LiCl solution was added to the previously extracted RNA solution, with 16.6 μ l of the 10 M LiCl solution incorporated into each 50 μ l sample. These

samples were then stored at 4°C in the fridge overnight. In the subsequent round, subjected to centrifugation for 15 minutes at a maximum speed of 14,000 RPM at 4°C. Following it, the supernatant was carefully removed, and samples underwent a washing step with 500μ l of 70% ethanol in DEPC (*Diethyl Pyrocarbonate*) water to inactivate possible RNases or enzymes that can degrade RNA. After the purification process, a further assessment by Nanodrop was performed to ensure that samples achieved the desired quality. Upon obtaining satisfactory results, samples were securely stored at -80°C.

2.2. Library Preparation and Sequencing platform

Selecting the appropriate library preparation protocol is crucial when planning an RNA sequencing study, requiring alignment with the study's goals, the specific biological material being studied, and the sequencing requirements [37]. Recent advancements in NGS platforms have expanded read lengths beyond 100 nucleotides, offering enhanced coverage for more comprehensive transcriptome analysis through RNA-seq. To leverage these extended reads effectively, the chosen library preparation protocol must ensure optimal library and insert lengths, aligning with the length of the sequenced RNA fragment [37].

Reverse transcription

Reverse transcription is essential for converting RNA into a cDNA molecule. the enzyme reverse transcriptase plays the main role to synthesize a single-stranded cDNA molecule from an RNA template. It enables the preservation and amplification of RNA molecules. Through this method, the originally single-stranded RNA is converted into a double-stranded cDNA molecule, making it more amenable for downstream sequencing. Reverse transcription is crucial in creating a stable and amplifiable cDNA library.

Fragmentation

cDNA molecules obtained after RT-PCR are fragmented into shorter segments. To accommodate the size restrictions of prevalent sequencing platforms (e.g., <600 bp on Illumina sequencers), Transcripts fragmentation is imperative. This can be accomplished using methods including exposure to alkaline solutions, solutions containing divalent cations like Mg++ or Zn++, and enzymatic

treatments such as RNase III [35]. By breaking down the cDNA into smaller, uniform sections, the sequencer can efficiently handle and read these sequences, enabling a comprehensive analysis of the transcriptome.

Adaptor ligation

During this step, short nucleotide sequences called adaptors are attached to the ends of fragmented RNA or cDNA molecules. These adaptors contain specific sequences vital for binding to the sequencing platform and identifying sequence origin and orientation during sequencing. It facilitates fragment amplification and sequencing by providing sequences necessary for the initiation of the sequencing reaction and aids in differentiating the start and end points of the fragments, ensuring precise analysis and enabling the machine to recognize diverse samples and sequences. This allows efficient and cost-effective simultaneous analysis of multiple samples during sequencing.

PCR amplification

To enhance detection on most sequencers, cDNA libraries must undergo PCR amplification before sequencing [35] for increasing the quantity of sequences attached to adaptors in preparation for sequencing. It works by exponentially replicating the nucleic fragments attached to the adaptors, thus producing sufficient material to be sequenced. The amplified (or enriched) sequences represent the genetic material of interest. Ensuring the adequate amount of DNA for accurate and comprehensive analysis is mandatory.

RNA Sequencing of 6 Vitis varieties

The RNA from the 6 selected varieties underwent library preparation and sequencing at an external facility (BMK, Berlin, DE) employing Illumina platforms. For robust statistical analyses, each variety was meticulously examined across three independent biological replicates.

The RNA-Seq process commenced with an evaluation of the integrity, concentration, and quantity of the extracted RNA before proceeding to library preparation. Utilizing TapeStation (Agilent) and Qubit (Thermo Scientific) instruments for rigorous quality assessments, samples were meticulously prepared and pooled to facilitate subsequent Illumina sequencing.

Following sequencing, the raw reads underwent initial filtering to eliminate low-quality data and were subsequently trimmed to remove adapters and barcodes. These preparatory steps preceded the reads mapping and counting, integral to the subsequent bioinformatic analyses. The sequencing company handled the initial stages of sequencing, including the preliminary filtering and demultiplexing of raw reads, before providing the FastQ files for each replicate.

Sequencing Data analysis

Obtained fastq files, derived from the RNAseq of the 18 libraries, followed the quality checks using fastp package [10]. The objective was to eliminate low-quality bases and remove adapter sequences before the reads mapping step. The processed trimmed reads were utilized to map and quantify them against the reference transcriptome of the grapevine. Considering that the grapevine transcriptome has several versions and annotations, some of which are still undergoing publication and revision. The most comprehensive and representative one was identified in that of version 3 (12X.2) of the grapevine transcriptome, including its associated annotations (VCost.v3). The reference files, sourced from the INRA portal [75], served as the basis for mapping and counting the reads. The reads alignment and counting per annotation was conducted using STAR software version 2.7.11a [15] on individual data sets for each variety and biological replica. The resulting reads-count files were then combined in a single dataset for further analyses, which were performed using RStudio platform. This procedure facilitated the generation of a read-count file, subsequently utilized in RStudio software for the differentially expressed gene (DEG) analysis and further investigations [55].

2.3. Differential gene expression analysis and candidate genes identification

A powerful tool in RStudio, called DESeq2 package [85], was used to perform the differential expression analysis with two separate variables: grapevine variety typology ("Elite" or "PIWI") and berry colour ("White" and "Red"). The count file was imported into the R environment after STAR alignment, and the "dds" tool from DEseq2 made facilitated the analysis and identification of genes that were differentially expressed. To prepare for further comparison studies, read count normalization was carried out and the significance level was set at pvalue ≤ 0.01 , while the expression level threshold, considered as the Log2 Fold Change (log2FC), were set to $-2 \geq \log 2FC \geq 2$. Using

RStudio, the DEG results were visually represented using ggplot2 package, an effective tool for creating a wide range of visualizations suitable for publication. With flexibility and convenience in data exploration and presentation, the user-friendly syntax of R makes it possible to create stunning plots ranging from basic charts to intricate ones and multi-layered visualizations [82].

Combined with the DEG analysis, the gene enrichment analysis was performed using g:Profiler web-tool [84] starting from the DEGs results. This analysis was performed to identify the molecular function (MF), cell compound (CC) and biological pathways (BP) related genes showing higher relevance among the differentially expressed genes identified through the DEGs analyses in the different comparisons between PIWI and the respective elite variety, both for white and red grapes.

A further investigation was conducted adopting the tau (τ) algorithm, which, although it is commonly adopted for animals and human transcriptomic analyses, was used for assessing the tissuespecificity level of each predicted gene within the adopted reference genome of *Vitis*.

3. RESULTS AND DESCUSSION

3.1. Sequencing quality reports

Paired-end reads obtained by RNA sequencing of 18 corresponding to the six varieties under study in three biological replicates were analysed and processed using fastp 0.20.1 [9]. The mean read length before filtering was 149 base pairs (bp) for both directions. After read processing, the mean read length remained unchanged at 149 bp for both directions. The duplication rate was estimated around 31% on average and an insert size peak of 269 bp was determined. The minimum, maximum and average value of total pre-filtering reads was 40.7 M, 46.7 M, and 43.7 M, for red varieties and, 40.2 M for minimum, 44.1 M for maximum, and 42.1 M for white ones. Table 3.1 reports the most important fastp statistics for each variety and its replicates.

Table 3.1. Fastp report results for each replicant/variety showing the total number of reads and bases pre- and post-filtering. High quality bases (Q30) are also reported.

RED	CC1	CC2	CC3	CV1	CV2	CV3	CS1	CS2	CS3
Varieties	15 1 2 5	12.0.14	16 7 3 6	10 5 1 (41.0.14	10 () (10.0.14	41.534	41.634
Total reads pre- filtering	45.4 M	43.9 M	46.7 M	40.7 M	41.2 M	40.6 M	42.3 M	41.7 M	41.6 M
Total reads post- filtering	44.8 M	43.4 M	46.1 M	40.1 M	40.5 M	39.9 M	41.8 M	41.1 M	41.1 M
Q30 pre- filtering	6.3 G (92.8%)	6.1 G (93.5%)	6.5 G (93.3%)	5.7 G (93.2%)	5.7 G (92.9%)	5.6 G (92.2%)	5.9 (93.4%)	5.8 G (93.2%)	5.8 G (93.1%)
Q30 post- filtering	6.2 G (93.3%)	6.1 G (94 %)	6.5 G (93.9%)	5.6 G (93.8%)	5.7 G (93.6%)	5.5 G (92.8%)	5.9 G (93.8%)	5.8 G (93.7%)	5.7 G (93.6%)
Read passed filters	44.8 M (98.7%)	43.3 M (98.8%)	46.1 M (98.6%)	40.1 M (98.6%)	40.5 M (98.4%)	39.9 M (98.3%)	41.8 M (98.9%)	41.1 M (98.7%)	41.1 M (98.7%)
White Varieties	SN1	SN2	SN3	SR1	SR2	SR3	SB1	SB2	SB3
White Varieties Total reads pre- filtering	SN1 44.1 M	SN2 45.1 M	SN3 40.2 M	SR1 41.1 M	SR2 40.2 M	SR3 40.6 M	SB1 40.9 M	SB2 40.7 M	SB3 43.5 M
White Varieties Total reads pre- filtering Total reads post- filtering	SN1 44.1 M 43.4 M	SN2 45.1 M 44.4 M	SN3 40.2 M 39.6 M	SR1 41.1 M 40.5 M	SR2 40.2 M 39.7 M	SR3 40.6 M 40.4 M	SB1 40.9 M 40.2 M	SB2 40.7 M 40.2 M	SB3 43.5 M 42.9 M
White Varieties Total reads pre- filtering Total reads post- filtering Q30 pre- filtering	SN1 44.1 M 43.4 M 6.1G (93.1%)	SN2 45.1 M 44.4 M 6.3 G (92.9%)	SN3 40.2 M 39.6 M 5.5 G (92.5%)	SR1 41.1 M 40.5 M 5.7 G (93.2%)	SR2 40.2 M 39.7 M 5.6 G (93.4%)	SR3 40.6 M 40.4 M 5.7 G (93.6%)	SB1 40.9 M 40.2 M 5.7 G (93.3%)	SB2 40.7 M 40.2 M 5.7 G (93.3%)	SB3 43.5 M 42.9 M 6.1 G (93.2 %)
White Varieties Total reads pre- filtering Total reads post- filtering Q30 pre- filtering Q30 post- filtering	SN1 44.1 M 43.4 M 6.1G (93.1%) 6.1 G (93.6%)	SN2 45.1 M 44.4 M 6.3 G (92.9%) 6.2 G (93.5%)	SN3 40.2 M 39.6 M 5.5 G (92.5%) 5.5 G (93.1%)	SR1 41.1 M 40.5 M 5.7 G (93.2%) 5.7 G (93.7%)	SR2 40.2 M 39.7 M 5.6 G (93.4%) 5.6 G (93.9%)	SR3 40.6 M 40.4 M 5.7 G (93.6%) 5.7 G (94.1%)	SB1 40.9 M 40.2 M 5.7 G (93.3%) 5.6 G (93.9%)	SB2 40.7 M 40.2 M 5.7 G (93.3%) 5.6 G (93.9%)	SB3 43.5 M 42.9 M 6.1 G (93.2 %) 6.1 G (93.6%)

3.2. Identification of Differentially Expressed Genes between tolerant and susceptible grapevine varieties

. Filtered reads were mapped on the 12x.v2 assembly of the *V. vinifera* PN40024 reference genome using the VCost.v3 annotation. The resulting counts were imported in RStudio and analysed by means of DESeq2 package to identify genes differentially expressed between tolerant and susceptible varieties. As a preliminary test, before computing the differential expression of genes aver different pairwise comparisons, we used the DEseq2 software to ascertain the relationship between replicates and genotypes based on normalized read counts. Plots are shown in Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2 showing low variance between replicas and good distinctiveness among varieties. In detail, the PC1 explained 43% of variance well separating white genotypes from red ones. The PC2, which explained 21% of variance separated elite varieties from PIQWI ones. Results of these preliminary analyses not only demonstrated the goodness of replicates and therefore the robustness of transcriptional data, but also indicated a clear distinction between the transcriptome of Piwi and elite varieties and of grape and white ones.



Figure 3.1. PCA representing the overall relationships between replicas and varieties considering the reads count mapped to each annotated gene previous to the DEGs analysis.



Figure 3.2. Heatmap representing the overall relationships between replicas and varieties considering the reads count mapped to each annotated gene previous to the DEGs analysis.

Based on the refined data derived from DESeq2 results of differential gene expression analysis, a comparative overview reveals the count of up- and down-regulated genes across various varieties as juxtaposed with their respective parental variety. In Figure 3.3, between all PIWIs and Elites regardless of the colour, 77 genes are upregulated, and 191 genes are downregulated. In the comparison between PIWIs and Elites of the considered red varieties, 960 genes were found upregulated, and 878 genes downregulated. Among PIWIs *versus* Elites in the white varieties 994 genes resulted as upregulated, and 995 downregulated.

Considering the single PIWI vs. Elite comparisons (Figure 3.45), the number of DEGs for the red CC is 494 upregulated and 659 downregulated genes, while for CV it is 1495 for upregulated and 1512 for downregulated ones, which coincides with the highest number of DEGs observed in both red and white varieties comparisons. In case of white varieties, in SN, 225 genes resulted upregulated, and 374 genes were downregulated, while, for SR, 1295 and 1345 genes were identified as upregulated and downregulated, respectively., Regarding SR vs. SB, it resulted as the most differential in terms of number of DEGs within white samples. In general, CV and SR showed the highest number of differentially expressed genes compared to the respective elite parent, thus indicating lower similarity with the elite varieties compared to the other two PIWI considered in this study.



Figure 3.3. histogram reporting the number of upregulated and downregulated genes between samples overall, only red varieties, and only whites ones.



Figure 3.4. histogram reporting the number of upregulated and downregulated genes within red and white varieties considering single variety comparisons to the respective elite parent.

In Figure 3.5, an overview of the samples' similarity is presented that highlights the good correlation occurring between replicas form the same variety, both for Elite and PIWI ones. Higher similarity was indicated by shorter distances, highlighted by the dark blue colour of the heatmap. Specifically, comparisons between the three replicates within the same variety demonstrated notable closer distances, thus indicating high concordance between their respective sequencing results.

Notably, comparisons among white varieties revealed a closer proximity compared to that of the red varieties.



Figure 3.5. Heatmap comparing the differentially expressed genes counts from all the analysed samples and replicas.

In Figure 3.6, a principal component analysis (PCA), the clustering of samples illustrates the grouping of highly correlated replicas sharing similar gene expression profiles. Moreover, the analysis reveals six distinct clusters, each comprising the three replicates of each variety. Notably, the top left quadrant of the chart displays the CS parental replicates, denoting the elite sample among the red varieties and showcasing strong correlation. Similarly, in the top right quadrant of the chart, SB replicates are present exhibiting pronounced correlation.

White samples exhibited a tighter clustering pattern around their respective parental variety, indicating a higher degree of similarity compared to the red ones. This observed pattern was discerned from the heatmap analysis based on the gene expression profiles, where the white samples displayed shorter distances among themselves, thus denoting a stronger resemblance within this group. As the CC3 replica had higher distance compared with other ones, it shows variability or divergence in gene expression compared to the other samples, which are generally grouped depending on the PC2 for what concerns the grape colour and depending on the PC1 for what regards the variety typology ("Elite", or "PIWI").

The axes are arranged in order of significance, with the differences observed along the primary principal component axis (PC1) holding greater importance than those along the secondary principal

component axis (PC2). As a result, variations between clusters along PC1 are more substantial, while similarities in distances are more apparent along PC2. Each principal component captures a certain amount of variability in the data, and the percentage of variance explained by each component indicates its importance in representing the overall variation within the dataset. Therefore, here PC1 accounts for 36% of the total variability observed in the dataset, while PC2 represents the 20%. Overall, the two considered principal components represented 56% of the total observed variance.



Figure 3.6. PCA plot comparing the expression levels among all the analysed samples. the distance on PC1 axis shows the difference between clusters.

3.3. White varieties

In Figure 3.7, the proximity between the SN and SR PIWI varieties, concerning white grapes, illustrates a closer relationship compared to their distance from the parental variety SB. The distinct similarity of the SR and SN PIWI varieties, as revealed in this figure, emphasizes their respective association and the divergence from the parental variety. Overall variance, represented by the two axes PC1 (59%) and PC2 (35%), is 94%. The same DEGs results used for the construction of the heatmap in Figure 3.7 were used for the creation of the PCA shown in Figure 3.8



Figure 3.7. Heatmap plot reporting the comparisons between white varieties considering the only DEGs results.



Figure 3.8. PCA plot reporting the comparisons between white varieties considering the only DEGs results.

3.4. Red varieties

In Figure 3.9, the inter-sample distances within the red varieties provide insightful comparisons. Notably, among the red varieties, the distance between CV and CS appears shorter than that between CC and CS. Conversely, the largest distance is observed between CC and the CV, suggesting the lowest similarity between these samples within the red group. From the PCA in Figure 3.10, the PC1 highlighted strong discrimination between CC and CV compared to CS, plus the strong difference occurring between them. Overall variance (93%) is mostly represented by PC1 (63% of variance), which is able to discriminate replicates from the two PIWI varieties. On the other hand, PC2 (30% of variance) is able to show distinctiveness between "Elite" and "PIWI" red varieties.



Figure 3.9. Heatmap plot reporting the comparisons between red varieties considering the only DEGs results.



Figure 3.10. PCA plot reporting the comparisons between red varieties considering the only DEGs results.

Based on the DEGs results, a Venn diagram, which represents the relationships and commonalities among different varieties, was created referring of white samples (Figure 3.11). This graph displays the counts of private upregulated and downregulated genes per variety alongside the shared gene counts within each category. Across all white varieties, there were 525 upregulated genes

shared between SN and SR, constituting 40% of the total 1295 upregulated genes. On the downregulated front, the white varieties showed 682 shared genes, contributing to 51% of the total 1345 downregulated genes observed in the white PIWI varieties.



Figure 3.11. Venn diagram of shared upregulated and downregulated gene within white varieties.

On the other hand, within the red varieties, the analysis reveals a mere 46 genes shared between CC and CV among the total 1595 upregulated genes (3%), while, in the realm of downregulated genes, there were 87 shared genes identified within the red varieties out of a total of 1512 (6%) of the total downregulated genes (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.12. Venn diagram of shared upregulated and downregulated gene within red varieties.

3.5. G:Profiler enrichment analysis

Combined with the differential expression analysis, the identification of the molecular functions, biological pathways and cell compounds, which DEGs are related to, was investigated. For this purpose, the DEGs results were analysed using g:Profiler web-tool for each of the considered comparisons.

Figure 3.13 shows the result of the DEGs identified among all the white varieties. In the case of MF the highest enriched terms were related to oxidoreductase activity. For BP the highest P value was observed related to membrane specific genes, and CC group defence response resulted as the highest. KEGG biological pathways related terms resulted on the top. In table 3.3, all most important terms are reported.



Figure 3.13. G:Profile graph of enrichment analysis of gene sets considering all the white varieties. GO: gene ontology, MF: molecular function, BP: biological process, CC: cellular component. KEGG is biological pathway.

Table 3.2. Top 3 the most important terms identified from the enrichment analysis of genes differentially expressed in white the varieties. Results are divided into each category.

			white
			all
	MF	Т	T∩Q (O)
1	oxidoreductase activity	2191	169 (973)
2	oxidoreductase activity, acting on paired donors, with incorporation or reduction of molecular oxygen	653	6a1 (973)
3	Catalytic activity	11701	602 (973)
	CC		
4	Cell periphery	1673	132

			(808)
5	membrane	9855	538
			(808)
6	Plasma	1412	111
	membrane		(808)
	BP		
7	Defence response	1286	97
			(840)
8	Transmembrane transport	1627	-
9	Response to another organism	819	-
	KEGG		
10	Metabolic	1235	103
	pathways		(151)

In Figure 3.14, presenting the g:Profiler results considering all the identified DEGs in the comparison of SN with SB white varieties, in case of MF the highest enriched terms were related to oxidoreductase activity. In BP the highest pvalue was identified for membrane related genes, while for CC terms, defence response was the highest. KEGG related terms highlighted that the metabolic pathways were on the top. On the table 3.3, all most important aspects are mentioned. Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.16, which considered the SN vs. SB DEGs, show the only up- or down-regulated genes enrichments, respectively. Regarding the upregulated genes: MF highest enriched terms were oxidoreductase activity; in BP, the highest pvalue was for transmembrane transport; in CC, cell periphery was the highest; in KEGG, metabolic pathways are on the top. On the table 3.3, all most important aspects are mentioned.



Figure 3.14. g:Profile analysis considering all DEGs in SN.



Figure 3.15. g:Profile analysis considering all upregulated DEGs in SN.

Regarding the downregulated genes: MF highest enriched terms were catalitic activity; in BP, the highest pvalue was for defence response; in CC, membrane was the highest; in KEGG, biosynthesis of secondary metabolites are on the top. On the table 3.3, all most important aspects are mentioned.



Figure 3.16. g:Profile analysis considering all downregulated DEGs in SN.

			SN	
		all	+	-
MF	Т	$T \cap Q(Q)$	$T \cap Q(Q)$	$T \cap Q(Q)$
oxidoreductase activity	2191	235 (1370)	114 (633)	477 (737)
Catalytic activity	11701	852 (1370)	-	-
Transmembrane transporter activity	1530	159 (1370)	-	80 (737)
CC				
Cell periphery	1673	175 (1125)	85 (543)	90 (582)
membrane	9855	733 (1125)	349 (543)	384 (582)
Plasma membrane	1412	142 (1125)	69 (543)	73 (582)
BP				
Defence response	1286	135 (1176)	-	92 (637)
Transmembrane transport	1627	161 (1176)	-	-
Response to stimulus	4152	-	-	-
KEGG				
Metabolic pathways	1235	141 (204)	72 (100)	69 (104)
Biosynthesis of secondary metabolites	681	93 (204)	44 (100)	49 (104)
Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis	70	20 (204)	-	12 (104)

Table 3.3. Top three most important enriched terms for each section in SN variety.

Figure 3.17, computed considering all DEGs from the comparison between SR and SB white varieties, reports for MF the highest enriched term to beoxidoreductase activity, n BP the highest pvalue was identified for defence response,. CC terms matched cell periphery as the highest, and in KEGG, metabolic pathways term is on the top. On the table 3.3, all most important aspects are mentioned.



Figure 3.17. g:Profile analysis considering all DEGs in SR.

Table 3.4. top three most important enriched terms for each category referred to the SR variety g:Profiler analysis.

		SR	
			all
	MF	Т	T∩Q (Q)
1	oxidoreductase activity	2191	237 (1376)
2	oxidoreductase activity, acting on paired donors, with incorporation or reduction of molecular oxygen	653	90 (1376)
3	Catalytic activity	11701	833 (1376)
	CC		
4	Cell periphery	1673	172 (1149)
5	membrane	9855	733 (1149)
6	Plasma membrane	1412	146 (1149)
	BP		
7	Defence response	1286	157 (1189)
8	Transmembrane transport	1627	-
9	Response to stimulus	4152	367 (1189)
	KEGG		
10	Metabolic pathways	1235	152 (230)
11	Biosynthesis of secondary metabolites	681	88 (230)
12	Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis	70	17 (230)

3.6. Gene enrichment and Tau test

In this study, we employed an algorithm commonly utilized in transcriptomic investigations involving animals or humans. However, it had previously been applied in the analysis of tissue-specific genes within the Pinot noir flower, as described by Vannozzi et al. in 2019. This algorithm, denoted as the tau (τ) algorithm [86], was employed to assess the tissue-specificity level of each predicted gene within a given genome. Following the quantile normalization of 23,847 genes, which were selected based on their expression levels, and the subsequent creation of BIN profiles, the τ algorithm was utilized to assign a value ranging from 0 (indicating constitutive expression across all or most tissues) to 1 (indicating absolute specificity for a particular tissue) to each gene. The distribution of τ values across the entire gene set is depicted in Figure 3.18A. In summary, 906 genes exhibited a high degree of specificity (referred to as Highly Specific Genes, HSG, with $\tau > 0.85$), and among them, 570 were identified as absolutely specific genes (Absolute Specific Genes, ASG, with $\tau = 1$). It is important to note that the τ value only characterizes the "specificity" of a gene. To ascertain the specific tissue to which a gene is exclusive, we computed the τ expression fractions (τef).

Among the various grapevine varieties studied, Sauvignon Rytos displayed the highest count of HSG (246) and ASG (157). Conversely, Sauvignon blanc exhibited the lowest number of HSG and ASG values (69 and 22, respectively), as illustrated in Figure 3.18B. As a general observation, the elite grapevine varieties Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon blanc displayed relatively lower counts of ASG and HSG genes. Detailed lists of HSG and ASG for each grapevine variety can be found in Supplementary Table 3.5, whereas Table 3.5 report the top 10 optimal genes for each variety, and their specificity for only the variety in which they are expressed.



Figure 3.18.

Moreover, highly specific genes (HSG) resulting from the tau analysis were subjected to a GSEA to verify the presence of enriched ontological categories. The obtained results conferred great robustness to the analysis and laid the foundations for a subsequent step aimed at further narrowing down the list of key genes of interest.

Table 3.5. List of ten best ranking genes based on a score value (0-2) corresponding to the sum of the quantile normalized expression of a given gene and its tau expression factor.

Gene ID V3	Gene ID V2	tau	Score	Mean exp	Functional annotation
Cabernet sauvignon					
Vitvi01002070	VIT 01s0127g00910	0.95	1 265	56 55	AFRO1
Vitvi10g00903	-	1.00	1 249	23,22	Leucin-rich repeat protein kinase
Vitvi01g00281	VIT 01s0010g04010	1.00	1.212	977	Unknown protein
Vitvi10g02153	-	1.00	1 1 3 3	5,16	-
Vitvi07g00496	VIT 07s0005g02310	0.93	1 1 3 3	12 47	ΕΧΡΔ17
Vitvi05g02072	VII_0750005g02510	0.93	1 1 3 0	11.93	-
Vitvi10g00183	_	1.00	1.125	4 63	_
Vitvi10g00105	VIT 00s2472g00010	0.85	1.125	27.96	Enhancer of mR-decapping protein 4
Vitvi01g02068	-	1.00	1.112	3 84	-
Vitvi10g02008	_	1.00	1.111	3 25	
Cabarnat cortis		1.00	1.070	5,25	
Vitvi07g02026	VIT 07s0130g00200	1.00	1 4 2 3	238 36	VvGFI P21 - Linase GDSI
Vitvi19g00082	$VIT_{19s0014g01060}$	1.00	1.423	220,50	Sesquiterpene synthese
Vitvi09g01530	$VIT_00_{c}0002_{c}01080$	0.96	1 3 2 5	113 34	Myosin like protein XIK
Vitvi11g01266	VIT_11s0052g01980	0.90	1.323	153.64	Yuloglucan endotransglucosylase/hydrolase 23
Vitvi00g01648	v11_1180052g01250	0.95	1.322	01.87	Aylogitean endotransgiteosylase/hydrolase 25
Vitvi08g01048	- VIT 08-0007-04580	0.90	1.309	310.66	- LIGT73C2 (LIDP glucosvil transferrase 73C2)
Vitvi10g002288	$VIT_10c0014c04000$	1.00	1.303	40.05	Curculin (mannase binding) lectin
Vitvi12g00324	VIT_12s0134g00650	1.00	1.265	40,05	Anthogyanin 5 gromatic agyltransferase
Vitvi10g01082	VIT_10c0014c05140	0.05	1.274	54,05 64,65	Anthocyanni 5-aronnanc acyntansierase
Vitvi15c00285	VIT_15c0045c00270	0.95	1.2/1	20.67	- Soring/throoping protein phasehotose DSL 2
Caharmat valas	v11_1380043g00270	1.00	1.203	30,07	Serme/uneonine-protein phosphatase BSL5
Vitui 14 a00668	VIT 14-0026-00000	0.86	1 422	1914 13	$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{D}}$
Vitvi11c01627	VIT_11=0052=00270	0.80	1.452	1014,15	Poryubiquitiii (OBQ4)
Vitvi11g01037	VIT_11s0052g00270	0.85	1.340	221.15	CVD706A12
Vitvi11g008/9	VIT_04_0008_04000	0.89	1.331	256 20	Unknown
Vitvi02c01478	VIT_02-0028-04220	0.07	1.293	230,39	Dihudroflavanal 4 raduatasa
Vitvi08c02274	VIT_0250056g04250	0.00	1.240	21.60	Diliyalonavonoi 4-reduciase
Vitvi16g02574	v11_088000/g07700	0.95	1.1/3	21,09	Polygalacturonase PO1
Vitvi08~00780	- VIT 08-0058-00650	1.00	1.109	0,42 7 7 2	-
Vitvi08g00789	VII_00000000000	1.00	1.101	1,12	A share uncertaine e constitue solution it 9
Vitvi11g01508	VIT_01a0010a02550	1.00	1.142	0,04 5.07	A -phase-promoting complex subunit 8
Vitvi01g01042	v11_0180010g05550	1.00	1.140	5,97	Nuclear transcription factor 1 subunit B related
Nitacio 4 - 00020	VIT 04-0008-00270	0.95	1 150	57.20	Classes 1 magnetic linear (CLV1)
Vitvi04g00029	VII_04\$0008g00570	0.85	1.150	57,39	Clavatal receptor kinase (CLVI)
V11V100g01048	VII_00s0004g02550	0.85	1.150	52,71	Clavetal recenter lineas (CLV1)
V11V104g00021	v11_04s0008g00300	0.85	1.14/	50,92	Clavatal receptor kinase (CLVI)
V11V109g01948	-	0.85	1.140	45,92	Disc (true 1) segmendance
V11V103g00460	VII_03S0003g01000	0.85	1.12/	39,01	Blue (type 1) copper domain
V1tv10/g01/69	VII_0/S0031g00850	0.8/	1.094	20,80	Patatin
V:+-:01-01952	VII_01s0011g01000;	0.97	1 000	17.00	DDM1 (maintenante a marine and marchine la 1)
Vitvi01g01852	VII_01S0011g00990	0.87	1.080	17,09	RPMT (resistance to p. syringae pv macuficola 1)
Vitvi10g00005	VII_10s0116g00150	0.87	1.0/8	16,85	Receptor kinase RK20-1
V1tV100g020//	V11_0080895g00010	0.8/	1.061	13,52	Giucan 1,3-beta-giucosidase
V1tv116g02124	v11_00s0294g00100	1.00	1.060	2,29	BK insensitive 1-associated receptor kinase 1
Sauvignon nepis	MT 00 0010 00700	1 00	1 500	710 70	
V1tv109g01181	VII_09s0018g00780	1.00	1.506	/10,79	Her vii protein
Vitvi18g02399	v11_18s0089g01040	0.97	1.4/4	64/,26	AVIY elicitor response

Gene ID V3	Gene ID V2	tau	Score	Mean exp	Functional annotation
Vitvi10g01863	VIT_10s0003g03530	0.97	1.427	382,88	Lupeol synthase
Vitvi10g01875	VIT_10s0003g03650	0.97	1.427	381,69	Beta-amyrin synthase
Vitvi13g02352	VIT_13s0139g00190	0.92	1.408	529,73	Disease resistance protein RGA2
Vitvi12g02393	VIT_12s0059g01790	0.91	1.356	321,51	Caffeic acid O-methyltransferase
Vitvi02g00721	VIT_02s0012g01610	0.87	1.355	506,49	Beta-1,3-gluca -se precursor
Vitvi03g01757		1.00	1.314	63,03	-
Vitvi03g00910	VIT_03s0167g00050	0.92	1.298	140,99	Conca-valin A lectin
Vitvi16g00665	VIT_16s0022g00420	0.96	1.294	81,21	SRG1 (senescence-related gene 1) oxidoreductase
Sauvignon rytos					
Vitvi01g01410	-	1.00	1.326	67,07	-
Vitvi08g00957	VIT_08s0040g00920	0.87	1.280	207,61	Glutathione S-transferase 25 GSTU7
Vitvi14g00080	VIT_14s0060g00990	1.00	1.269	31,94	Unknown
Vitvi13g02566	VIT_13s0156g00390	1.00	1.267	31,10	Myb family
Vitvi18g03265	VIT_18s0089g01000	0.95	1.256	51,80	F-box family protein
Vitvi15g01230	-	1.00	1.229	19,32	-
Vitvi15g01425	VIT_15s0021g01450	1.00	1.224	18,06	No hit
Vitvi13g01636	VIT_13s0158g00050	1.00	1.223	17,85	Serine carboxypeptidase
Vitvi10g01830	VIT_10s0003g02420	1.00	1.217	16,27	SRG1 (senescence-related gene 1) oxidoreductase
Vitvi17g00462	-	1.00	1.216	16,08	-

4. CONCLUSION

This thesis aimed at investigating the transcriptional landscape of grapevine berry skin from resistant varieties, including both PIWI (Cabernet Cortis, Cabernet Volos, Sauvignon Nepis, Sauvignon Rytos) and elite parental varieties (Cabernet Sauvignon, Sauvignon Blanc). This study aimed at shedding light on the basal defence mechanisms specific for each of the analysed varieties. Through RNA sequencing and rigorous bioinformatic analyses, key insights emerged regarding genetic expression patterns and relationships across varieties.

Overall, closer transcriptomic relationships were observed among the white grapevine varieties compared to the red ones. Heatmaps and PCAs revealed tighter clustering of white variety replicates compared to the red ones, suggesting higher similarities in their transcriptomic profiles. Differential gene expression analysis quantified distinct numbers of up- and down-regulated genes when contrasting PIWIs against the respective elite parent, with white PIWIs exhibiting an higher number of DEGs, in general. This result indicates high substantial transcriptional differences in the white PIWIs, thus underlying disease resilience traits.

Interestingly, despite their ancestral connections, low overlap occurred in the actual DEGs induced in red *versus* white PIWI grapes. Cabernet Cortis and Cabernet Volos shared only 3% of total upregulated and 6% of downregulated genes. Meanwhile, 40% of upregulated and 51% of downregulated genes overlapped between Sauvignon Nepis and Sauvignon Rytos, indicating high transcriptional relationships among them. This showcases the intricacy of genetic relationships even among PIWI grapes developed from elite crosses.

Gene enrichment analysis determined overrepresented pathways and functions among DEGs. Oxidoreductase activity, defense response, metabolic processes, and secondary metabolite biosynthesis were consistently featured, aligning with stress resilience roles. The tissue-specificity assessment also revealed divergent trends in highly and absolutely tissue-specific gene counts across varieties. Notably, elite cultivars Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc harboured fewer of such genes than the respective PIWIs, potentially contributing to disease susceptibility.

Overall, this RNA-Seq study offered meaningful perspectives into the nuanced transcriptomic landscapes distinguishing grapevine varieties, particularly disease-resistant PIWIs and elite cultivars. This study highlighted intriguing differences in genetic relationships and expression patterns even among ancestrally connected grapes. The findings provide valuable leads towards unravelling the

precise transcriptional intricacies governing pathogen resilience in grapevine berries. Further probing of specific genes and pathways hold promise for harnessing disease resistance mechanisms to promote sustainable viticulture.

In conclusion, this thesis fulfilled its central aims through a methodical workflow spanning RNA extraction, sequencing, differential expression quantification and gene enrichment analyses. The outcomes advanced the understanding of basal defence traits in grapevine varieties from transcriptional perspectives. This work sets the stage for more targeted inquiries into precise transcriptomic factors conferring resilience against destructive pathogens for environmentally benign disease control approaches in viticulture. The study affirmed the power of RNA sequencing combined with rigorous bioinformatics for elucidating genetic complexities underlying biological phenomena.

References

[1] Z. Amarouchi et al. "Beneficial Microorganisms to Control the Gray Mold of Grapevine: From Screening to Mechanisms". In: Microorganisms 9 (7 2021), p. 1386. doI: 10.3390/microorganisms9071386.

[2] Charles Frederic Andrus. Production of seedless watermelons. 1425. US De- partment of Agriculture, 1971.

[3] Grace Armijo et al. "Grapevine Pathogenic Microorganisms: Understand- ing Infection Strategies and Host Response Scenarios". In: Frontiers in Plant Science 7 (2016). Issn: 1664-462X. doI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00382. url: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2016.00382.

[4] Author or Organization, if available. EBA12R. 2023. url: https://insifindia. in/index.php?route=product/product&product_id=941.

[5] C. Bertsch et al. "Grapevine trunk diseases: complex and still poorly un- derstood". In: Plant Pathology 62.2 (), pp. 243–265. doI: https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365- 3059.2012.02674.x. url: https://bsppjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365- 3059.2012. 02674.x.

[6] Gerard Brady, Mary Barbara, and Norman N Iscove. "Representative in vitro cDNA amplification from individual hemopoietic cells and colonies". In: Methods Mol Cell Biol 2.1 (1990), pp. 17–25.

[7] Richard Breia et al. "VvERD6113 is a grapevine sucrose transporter highly up-regulated in response to infection by Botrytis cinerea and Erysiphe necator". In: Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 154 (2020), pp. 508–516.

[8] Maria Francesca Cardone et al. "Inter-varietal structural variation in grapevine genomes". In: The Plant Journal 88.4 (2016), pp. 648–661.

[9] Shifu Chen et al. fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. GitHub repository. 2018. url: https://github.com/OpenGene/fastp.

[10] Shifu Chen et al. "fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor". In: Bioinformatics 34.17 (Sept. 2018), pp. i884–i890.

[11] Tyson A Clark et al. "Discovery of tissue-specific exons using comprehen- sive human exon microarrays". In: Genome biology 8.4 (2007), pp. 1–16.

[12] Biswajit Das, N Ahmed, and Pushkar Singh. "Prunus diversity-early and present development: A review". In: Int J Biodivers Conserv 3.14 (2011), pp. 721–734.

[13] cadle-Davidson et al. "Grapevine powdery mildew (Erysiphe necator): a fascinating system for the study of the biology, ecology and epidemiology of an obligate biotroph." In: mol plant pathol (2011). doI: https://doi. org/10.1111/j.tig.1364.3703.2011.00728.

[14] R. Dean et al. "The Top 10 Fungal Pathogens in Molecular Plant Pathol- ogy". In: Molecular Plant Pathology 13 (2012), pp. 414–430. doI: 10.1111/j. 1364-3703.2011.00783.x.

[15] Alexander Dobin et al. "STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner". In: Bioinformatics 29.1(2013). Epub 2012 Oct 25, pp. 15–21. doI: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/bts635.

[16] John F Doebley, Brandon S Gaut, and Bruce D Smith. "The molecular genetics of crop domestication". In: Cell 127.7 (2006), pp. 1309–1321.

[17] K Doyle. "The Source of Discovery: Protocols and Applications Guide, PROMEGA". In: Madison, Wis, USA: Madison (1996).

[18] R. Eibach and R. Töpfer. "1 - Traditional grapevine breeding techniques". In: Grapevine Breeding Programs for the Wine Industry. Ed. by Andrew Reynolds. Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and

Nutrition. Oxford: Woodhead Publishing, 2015, pp. 3–22. IsBn: 978-1-78242-075-0. doI: https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-075-0.00001-6. url: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/B9781782420750000016.

[19] Yigal Elad et al. "Plant hosts of Botrytis spp." In: Botrytis-the fungus, the pathogen, and its management in agricultural systems (2016), pp. 413–486.

[20] S. J. Emrich et al. "Gene discovery and annotation using LCM-454 transcriptome sequencing". In: Genome Research 17 (2007), pp. 69–73. doI: 10. 1101/gr.5145806.

[21] Robert Eugene Evenson and Douglas Gollin. Crop variety improvement and its effect on productivity: The impact of international agricultural research. Cabi Publishing, 2003.

[22] Jaroslava Fedorina et al. "Grapevine Gene Systems for Resistance to Gray Mold Botrytis cinerea and Powdery Mildew Erysiphe necator". In: Agron- omy 12 (2 2022), p. 499. dol: 10.3390/agronomy12020499. url: https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12020499.

[23] M Fumagalli et al. "Evaluation of the anti-inflammatory activity of raisins (Vitis vinifera L.) in human gastric epithelial cells: a comparative study". In: (2016).

[24] Raymond WM Fung et al. "Powdery mildew induces defense-oriented reprogramming of the transcriptome in a susceptible but not in a resistant grapevine". In: Plant physiology 146.1 (2008), pp. 236–249.

[25] Brooks G. "Biotechnology in Healthcare: An Introduction to Biopharmaceutical". In: book (1998).

[26] E. Gäumann. "Die wirtschaftliche Bedeutung unserer wichtigsten Pflanzenkrankheiten". In: Landwirtschaftliches Jahrbuch der Schweiz 12 (1927), pp. 319–324.

[27] K. Gehmann, G. Staudt, and F. Grossmann. "Der Einfluss der Temper- atur auf die Oosporenbildung von Plasmopara viticola". In: Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz 94 (1987), pp. 230–234.

[28] C. Gessler, I. Pertot, and M. Perazzolli. "Plasmopara viticola: a review of knowledge on downy mildew of grapevine and effective disease manage- ment". In: Phytopathologia mediterranea 50 (2011), pp. 3–44.

[29] Gessler, Petrot, and Perazzolli. "a review of knowledge on downy mildew of grapevine and effective disease management". In: 50 (2011). doI: https:// doi. org/ 10.14601 / Phytopathol_Mediterr-9360. url: https:// oajournals.fupress.net/index.php/pm/article/view/5388.

[30] A. Gondane and H. M. Itkonen. "Revealing the History and Mystery of RNA-Seq". In: Current Issues in Molecular Biology 45.3 (2023), pp. 1860–1874. doI: 10.3390/cimb45030120. url: https://doi.org/10.3390/ cimb45030120.

[31] Piebiep Goufo, Rupesh Kumar Singh, and Isabel Cortez. "A reference list of phenolic compounds (including stilbenes) in grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) roots, woods, canes, stems, and leaves". In: Antioxidants 9.5 (2020), p. 398.

[32] Fabrizio Grassi and Rosa Arroyo-Garcia. Origins and Domestication of the Grape. 2020.

[33] Fabrizio Grassi and Gabriella De Lorenzis. "Back to the Origins: Back- ground and Perspectives of Grapevine Domestication". In: International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22.9 (2021). Issn: 1422-0067. url: https:// www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/22/9/4518.

[34] Hettich. Universal 32R Centrifuge. Accessed: November 25, 2023. Year. url: https://www.djblabcare. co. uk/djb/product/43/Centrifuges - UNIVERSAL 32R-Hettich Universal 32R.

[35] Rozmara Hrdlickova, Marjan Toloue, and Bin Tian. "RNA-Seq methods for transcriptome analysis". In: Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 8.1 (2017), p. 10. doI: 10.1002/wrna.1364. url: https://doi.org/10.1002/wrna.1364.

[36] International Organisation of Vine and Wine. Global Report. 2023. 2020. url: https://www.oiv.int/what-we-do/global-report?oiv.

[37] Roman Jaksik, Monika Drobna-ledziska, and Magorzata Dawidowska. "RNA-seq library preparation for comprehensive transcriptome analy- sis in cancer cells: The impact of insert size". In: Genomics 113.6 (2021), pp. 4149–4162. Issn: 0888-7543. doI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygeno.2021.10.018. url: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0888754321003815.

[38] Kseniia Koledenkova et al. "Plasmopara viticola the Causal Agent of Downy Mildew of Grapevine: From Its Taxonomy to Disease Manage- ment". In: Frontiers in Microbiology 13 (2022). Issn: 1664-302X. doI: 10.3389/ fmicb.2022.889472. url: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/ 10.3389/fmicb.2022.889472.

[39] BVS Lakshmi, M Sudhakar, and M Anisha. "Neuroprotective role of hy- droalcoholic extract of Vitis vinifera against aluminium-induced oxidative stress in rat brain". In: Neurotoxicology 41 (2014), pp. 73–79.

[40] R. Lister et al. "Highly integrated single-base resolution maps of the epigenome in Arabidopsis". In: Cell 133 (2008), pp. 523–536. doI: 10.1016/ j. cell.2008.03.029.

[41] Thomas M.R., Matsumoto S., and P. Cain. "Repetitive DNA of grapevine: classes present and sequences suitable for cultivar identification." In: theoritical and applied genetics (1993). BF00222076.doI: https://doi.org/10.1007/

[42] G. Maddalena, G. Russo, and S. Toffolatti. "The study of the germination dynamics of Plasmopara viticola oospores highlights the presence of phe- notypic synchrony with the host". In: Frontiers in Microbiology 12 (2021), p. 698586.

[43] Ellen Marsh et al. "Changes in protein abundance during powdery mildew infection of leaf tissues of Cabernet Sauvignon grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.)" In: Proteomics 10.10 (2010), pp. 2057–2064.

[44] Gilbert W Maxam AM. "A new method for sequencing DNA". In: pnas (1977).

[45] WD McClellan and William B Hewitt. "Early Botrytis rot of grapes: Time of infection and latency of". In: Phytopathology 63 (1973), pp. 1151–1157.

[46] AS. Wiedemann-Merdinoglu S. Duchêne E. Miclot. "A standardised method for the quantitative analysis of resistance to grapevine powdery mildew". In: european jornal of plant patology (2012).

[47] Vincenzo Mondello et al. "Grapevine Trunk Diseases: A Review of Fifteen Years of Trials for Their Control with Chemicals and Biocontrol Agents". In: Plant Disease 102.7 (2018). PMID: 30673583, pp. 1189–1217. doI: 10. 1094/PDIS-08-17-1181-FE. url: https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-08-17-1181-FE.

[48] NG Nair et al. "Significance of carry over inoculum, flower infection and latency on the incidence of Botrytis cinerea in berries of grapevines at harvest in New South Wales". In: Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 35.8 (1995), pp. 1177–1180.

[49] Ohioline. Powdery Mildew. 2023. url: https://ohioline.osu.edu/factsheet/plpath-fru-37.

[50] Trust M Pfukwa et al. "Food preservative capabilities of grape (Vitis vinifera) and clementine mandarin (Citrus reticulata) by-products extracts in South Africa". In: Sustainability 11.6 (2019), p. 1746.

[51] Diana Pimentel et al. "Transcriptional, hormonal, and metabolic changes in susceptible grape berries under powdery mildew infection". In: Journal of Experimental Botany 72.18 (2021), pp. 6544–6569.

[52] Carlotta Pirrello et al. "Past, present, and future of genetic strategies to control tolerance to the main fungal and oomycete pathogens of grapevine". In: Journal of Experimental Botany 74.5 (Dec. 2022), pp. 1309–1330.

[53] Poeydebat et al. "Quantification and management of Plasmopara viti- cola primary inoculum in soil Towards prophylactic control of grapevine downy mildew". In: BIO Web of Conferences 50 (Aug. 2022), p. 03011. doI: 10.1051/bioconf/20225003011.

[54] Vivai Rauscedo. Sauvignon Nepis. url: https://www.vivairauscedo.com/ en/product-sheet/sauvignon-nepis/.

[55] RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. RStudio, PBC. Boston, MA, 2020. url: http://www.rstudio.com/.

[56] Ankush A Saddhe, Rakesh Manuka, and Suprasanna Penna. "Plant sugars: Homeostasis and transport under abiotic stress in plants". In: Physiologia plantarum 171.4 (2021), pp. 739–755.

[57] F. Sanger and A. R. Coulson. "A new method for sequencing DNA". In: Journal of Molecular Biology 94 (1975), pp. 441–448.

[58] F. Sanger, S. Nicklen, and A. R. Coulson. "DNA sequencing with chain- terminating inhibitors". In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 74.12 (1977), pp. 5463–5467.

[59] Mark Schena et al. "Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray". In: Science 270.5235 (1995), pp. 467–470.

[60] Marta Sharafan et al. "Vitis vinifera (Vine Grape) as a Valuable Cosmetic Raw Material". In: Pharmaceutics 15.5 (2023). Issn: 1999-4923. url: https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4923/15/5/1372.

[61] Sigma-Aldrich. 2023. url:<u>https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/</u>deepweb/assets/sigmaaldrich/product/documents/323/177/strn20 bl.pdf.

[62] Chandra K Singh, Xiaoqi Liu, and Nihal Ahmad. "Resveratrol, in its natural combination in whole grape, for health promotion and disease management". In: Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1348.1 (2015), pp. 150–160.

[63] Bruce D Smith. "Documenting plant domestication: The consilience of biological and archaeological approaches". In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98.4 (2001), pp. 1324–1326.

[64] Viviana Sosa-Zuniga et al. "Powdery Mildew Resistance Genes in Vines: An Opportunity to Achieve a More Sustainable Viticulture". In: Pathogens 11.6 (2022). url: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-0817/11/6/703.

[65] R. Stark, M. Grzelak, and J. Hadfield. "RNA sequencing: the teenage years". In: Nat Rev Genet 20 (2019), pp. 631–656. doI: 10.1038/s41576-019-0150-2.

[66] Bruce A Stermer, Graciela M Bianchini, and Kenneth L Korth. "Regulation of HMG-CoA reductase activity in plants." In: Journal of Lipid Research 35.7 (1994), pp. 1133–1140.

[67] Siun Chee Tan and Beow Chin Yiap. "DNA, RNA, and Protein Extraction: The Past and The Present". In: journal of biomedicine and biotechnology (2009).

[68] Howard M Temin, S Mizutami, et al. "RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus." In: Nature 226 (1970), pp. 1211–1213.

[69] "The role of conventional plant breeding in ensuring safe levels of naturally occurring toxins in food crops". In: Trends in Food Science Technology 100 (2020), pp. 51–66. Issn: 0924-2244. doI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tifs.2020.03.042. url: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0924224419310817.

[70] thermofisher. nanodrop2000C. 2023. url: https://www.thermofisher. com/order/catalog/product/ND2000CLAPTOP.

[71] Patrice This, Thierry Lacombe, and Mark R. Thomas. "Historical origins and genetic diversity of wine grapes". In: Trends in Genetics 22.9 (2006), pp. 511–519. Issn: 0168-9525. doI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tig. 2006. 07. 008. url: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168952506002253.

[72] Reinhard Töpfer et al. "New horizons for grapevine breeding". In: Fruit, vegetable and cereal science and biotechnology 5.1 (2011), pp. 79–100.

[73] Vivaira Uscedo. Cabernet Sauvignon. 2020. url: https://www.vivairauscedo. com/en/product-sheet/cabernet-sauvignon/.

[74] Silvia Vezzulli et al. "Genomic designing for biotic stress resistant grapevine". In: Genomic designing for biotic stress resistant fruit crops. Springer, 2022, pp. 87–255.

[75] Vitis Annotations. https://urgi.versailles.inra.fr/Species/Vitis/ Annotations. Accessed: November 2023. Year of access.

[76] Viva. Cabernet Volos. 2023. 2020. url: https://www.vivairauscedo.com/en/product-sheet/cabernet-volos/.

[77] Vivai. Sauvignon Rytos. 2023. 2020. url: https://www.vivairauscedo.com/en/product-sheet/sauvignon-rytos/.

[78] Vouillamoz and Grando. "Genealogy of wine grape cultivars: "Pinot" is related to "Syrah"". In: (2006). doI: https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy. 6800842.

[79] Ran Wan et al. "Resistance evaluation of Chinese wild Vitis genotypes against Botrytis cinerea and different responses of resistant and susceptible hosts to the infection". In: Frontiers in plant science 6 (2015), p. 854.

[80] Kaituo Wang et al. " β -aminobutyric acid induces priming defence against Botrytis cinerea in grapefruit by reducing intercellular redox status that modifies posttranslation of VvNPR1 and its interaction with VvTGA1". In: Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 156 (2020), pp. 552–565.

[81] Jun Wen et al. "A new phylogenetic tribal classification of the grape family (Vitaceae)". In: Journal of Systematics and Evolution 56.4 (2018), pp. 262–272.

[82] Hadley Wickham. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer- Verlag New York, 2016. IsBn: 978-3-319-24277-4. url: https://ggplot2. tidyverse.org.

[83] michael wink. "An Introduction to Molecular Biotechnology: Molecular Fundamentals, Methods and Application in Modern Biotechnology." In: book (2006).

[84] g: Profiler. "g: Profiler Web Tool." Accessed [2023]. https://biit.cs.ut.ee/gprofiler/gost.

[85] Love MI, Huber W, Anders S (2014). "Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2." Genome Biology, 15, 550. doi:10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8.

[86] Vannozzi, A., Palumbo, F., Magon, G. et al. The grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) floral transcriptome in Pinot noir variety: identification of tissue-related gene networks and whorl-specific markers in preand post-anthesis phases. Hortic Res 8, 200 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41438-021-00635-7.